
 

  1 
 

1 

FTC Issues Final Petroleum Market Manipulation Rule  
BY MICHAEL P. A. COHEN AND MARK K. LEWIS 

Effective November 4, the Federal Trade Commission will begin enforcing a new Petroleum Market 
Manipulation Rule under the Energy Independence and Security Act of 2007. The Rule states: 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, in connection 
with the purchase or sale of crude oil, gasoline, or petroleum distillates 
at wholesale, to: 

(a) Knowingly engage in any act, practice, or course of business – 
including the making of any untrue statement of material fact – that 
operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person; or 

(b) Intentionally fail to state a material fact that under the 
circumstances renders a statement made by such person misleading, 
provided that such omission distorts or is likely to distort market 
conditions for any such product. 

16 C.F.R. § 317.3. Violations of the Rule are punishable by civil penalties up to $1 million per 
violation. Each day misconduct continues is a separate offense. 42 U.S.C. § 17304. 

The final Rule applies to wholesale trade for crude oil, gasoline and distillates. Wholesale means all 
bulk sales and all terminal rack sales; the Rule does not apply to retail sales. Crude oil includes liquid 
crudes, shale oil and tar sands. Gasoline includes finished gasoline and conventional and reformulated 
gasoline blendstock for oxygenate blending. The Rule “intends to capture those commodities regularly 
traded as finished gasoline products or as gasoline products requiring only oxygenate blending to be 
finished.” Statement of Basis and Purpose at 23. Distillates includes jet fuels, diesel fuels and all 
“finished fuel products, other than gasoline, produced at a refinery or blended in tank at a terminal.” 
Id. at 27-28. The Rule includes middle distillate refinery fuel streams up to lighter products like 
heating oil and kerosene. The Rule does not include transactions for heavy fuel oils, renewable fuels 
like ethanol or biodiesel fuels, or blending components like alkylate and reformate. 

The Rule does not exempt pipelines. Acknowledging limits to the FTC’s jurisdiction over common 
carrier activities regulated by other agencies, the FTC noted that pipelines also engage in wholesale 
petroleum purchase, sale and transportation services covered by the Rule. The FTC indicated it will 
assess its jurisdiction over pipelines on a case-by-case basis. Likewise the FTC declined to exempt 
futures transactions regulated by the CFTC, though the FTC expressed notions of comity with CFTC to 
coordinate enforcement activities. 
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There are two categories of violations under the Rule: conduct and omissions. The intent standards for 
each categorical violation are different and only the omissions provision requires additional proof of 
likely market distortion. 

Part (a) covers conduct violations, and requires that persons “knowingly” engage in prohibited 
conduct. Adopted in part from court interpretations of SEC Rule 10b-5, the Commission interprets this 
provision as requiring at minimum a showing of extreme recklessness – the “person either knew or 
must have known that his or her conduct created a danger of misleading buyers or sellers.” Statement 
of Basis and Purpose at 26. This section does not require the Commission to establish that conduct 
was likely to distort the market. 

Part (b) prohibits material omissions, and requires that persons “intentionally” engage in prohibited 
conduct. This stricter standard requires that a person “must have intentionally omitted information 
from a statement with the further intent to make the statement misleading.” Id. at 50. This provision 
applies only to omissions that “distort[] or [are] likely to distort market conditions” for a covered 
product. It “is not a violation of [Part (b)] to withhold market intelligence that a company gathered 
about market conditions.” Id. at 51. The FTC also does not intend Part (b) to reach bilateral 
commercial negotiations, which the agency views as unlikely to inject false information into the 
marketplace. 

The FTC’s enforcement policies for the Rule are uncertain at this nascent stage. The agency indicated 
the Rule “will prohibit practices that inject false information into transactions” and thus will “help to 
protect the integrity of the price discovery process.” Statement of Basis and Purpose at 14-15. The 
FTC also stated that the Rule “will prevent the same types of fraudulent and deceptive practices that 
the SEC, CFTC, and the FERC have pursued in the markets they respectively regulate ….” Id. 

In a separate statement, FTC Chairman Liebowitz signaled that the Commission is “going to use this 
authority as aggressively as possible to stop market manipulation that drives up prices at the pump.”  

Commissioner Kovacic in contrast dissented from the Rule citing concerns the regulations may impede 
competition by chilling data reporting given the Rule’s omissions prohibition. 

Commissioner Rosch shared Kovacic’s concerns about the potential effects of the Rule, but noted in a 
concurrence that the FTC was obligated to follow Congressional direction to fashion a market 
manipulation rule based on SEC Rule 10b-5. He “intend[s] to keep [his] misgivings in mind.” 

The new Rule, Statement of Basis and Purpose and Commissioner statements can be found at: 
http://www.ftc.gov/opa/2009/08/mmr.shtm. 

  

We will continue to monitor the new Rule closely and keep clients apprised of significant developments. 
If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact any of the following Paul Hastings lawyers: 

 
Michael P. A. Cohen 
Partner, Litigation Department 
(202) 551-1880 
michaelcohen@paulhastings.com  

 
Mark K. Lewis 
Partner, Corporate Department 
(202) 551-1850 
marklewis@paulhastings.com  
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